JAN 201961



Eechnical Mote

No. 87

PB161588

Boulder Laboratories

A THEORETICAL STUDY OF SPORADIC-E STRUCTURE IN THE LIGHT OF RADIO MEASUREMENTS

BY KAZUHIKO TAO



U. S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS

THE NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS

Functions and Activities

The functions of the National Bureau of Standards are set forth in the Act of Congress, March 3, 1901, as amended by Congress in Public Law 619, 1950. These include the development and maintenance of the national standards of measurement and the provision of means and methods for making measurements consistent with these standards; the determination of physical constants and properties of materials; the development of methods and instruments for testing materials, devices, and structures; advisory services to government agencies on scientific and technical problems: invention and development of devices to serve special needs of the Government; and the development of standard practices, codes, and specifications. The work includes basic and applied research, development, engineering, instrumentation, testing, evaluation, calibration services, and various consultation and information services. Research projects are also performed for other government agencies when the work relates to and supplements the basic program of the Bureau or when the Bureau's unique competence is required. The scope of activities is suggested by the listing of divisions and sections on the inside of the back cover.

Publications

The results of the Bureau's work take the form of either actual equipment and devices or published papers. These papers appear either in the Bureau's own series of publications or in the journals of professional and scientific societies. The Bureau itself publishes three periodicals available from the Government Printing Office: The Journal of Research, published in four separate sections. presents complete scientific and technical papers; the Technical News Bulletin presents summary and preliminary reports on work in progress; and Basic Radio Propagation Predictions provides data for determining the best frequencies to use for radio communications throughout the world. There are also five series of nonperiodical publications: Monographs, Applied Mathematics Series, Handbooks, Miscellaneous Publications, and Technical Notes.

Information on the Bureau's publications can be found in NBS Circular 460, Publications of the National Bureau of Standards (\$1.25) and its Supplement (\$1.50), available from the Superintendent of Documents, Government Printing Office, Washington 25, D.C.

NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS *Eechnical Mote*

87

January, 1961

A THEORETICAL STUDY OF SPORADIC-E STRUCTURE IN THE LIGHT OF RADIO MEASUREMENTS

by

Kazuhiko Tao

NBS Technical Notes are designed to supplement the Bureau's regular publications program. They provide a means for making available scientific data that are of transient or limited interest. Technical Notes may be listed or referred to in the open literature. They are for sale by the Office of Technical Services, U. S. Department of Commerce, Washington 25, D. C.

DISTRIBUTED BY

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE OFFICE OF TECHNICAL SERVICES

WASHINGTON 25, D. C.

Price \$ 1.25

A THEORETICAL STUDY OF SPORADIC-E STRUCTURE IN THE LIGHT OF RADIO MEASUREMENTS

by

Kazuhiko Tao

ABSTRACT

The theoretical aspects of the mechanisms of sporadic-E reflections are described from both the standpoint of a thin layer and a scattering model. For the thin layer model, thin dielectric layers which have various distributions of electron density are considered. It is also pointed out that the scattering theory for which an autocorrelation function of the fluctuation of electron density is given by modified Bessel functions of the fourth through the seventh order is an available model for sporadic-E scatter. Moreover blobs of ionization which have a horizontal scale of the order of 200 m and a vertical scale of about 50 m are considered for sporadic-E scatter. The frequency and distance dependences of the oblique VHF propagation by means of the sporadic-E layer are discussed by comparing the theoretical results with experimental evidence. .

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. INTRODUCTION
- 2. THIN LAYER MODEL FOR SPORADIC E

2.1 Outline of the Model

- 2.2 Calculation of the Reflection Coefficient
- 3. SCATTERING MODEL FOR SPORADIC E
 - 3.1 Outline of this Model
 - 3.2 Scale of the Sporadic-E Irregularities
 - 3.3 Scattering Cross-Section
 - 3.4 Generalized Scattering Cross-Section in the Anisotropic Case
 - 3.5 Relationship between Es Scattering and Normal Scattering in the Ionosphere
- 4. DISTANCE DEPENDENCE OF SPORADIC-E PROPAGATION
- 5. FREQUENCY DEPENDENCE OF SPORADIC-E PROPAGATION
- 6. CORRELATION BETWEEN foes AND FIELD STRENGTH
- 7. CONCLUSIONS
- 8. ACKNOWLEDGMENT
- 9. REFERENCES

A THEORETICAL STUDY OF SPORADIC-E STRUCTURE IN THE LIGHT OF RADIO MEASUREMENTS

Ъy

Kazuhiko Tao

1. INTRODUCTION

We have seen that there are several types of sporadic-E delineated by their differing diurnal or seasonal occurrence times or latitude variation [1]. Some types of sporadic-E echoes on ionograms have the appearance of reflections from a thin layer, and other types suggest the scattering mechanism. In this paper, we shall confine our attention to sporadic-E echoes which are frequently observed in middle latitudes.

The theory concerning a thin layer which has a cloud-like shape is described in section 2 and a sporadic-E model is given in section 3 from the standpoint of scattering theory. Distance and frequency dependences of sporadic-E propagation are stated in sections 4 and 5 together with a comparison of theoretical with experimental results. In section 6 a relationship is derived between foEs and the measured field strength observed over an oblique VHF propagation path during periods of sporadic-E enhancement.

2. THIN LAYER MODEL FOR SPORADIC E

2.1 Outline of the Model

Measurement of the electron density within the sporadic-E layer has shown that relatively sharp variations in the gradients of electron density exist in both the horizontal and vertical directions. Although the theory of reflection from a thin ionized layer has been developed by Hartree [2], Booker [3], Rydbeck [4, 5] and Rawer [6], another treatment will be developed in this paper. We shall postulate many thin dielectric layers in the E region which have limited extent in the horizontal direction. The basic idea for this model was developed by Friis, Crawford and Hogg [7], in order to explain the persistent tropospheric field strengths beyond the horizon. We shall apply this concept to the problem of sporadic E.

According to diffraction theory, if a layer has a reflection coefficient p, the received power is given in the form,

$$P_r = P_t \frac{A_t^A r}{\lambda^2 d^2} \rho^2$$
 (2.1)

where P_t is the transmitting power, A_t and A_r are the effective areas of transmitting and receiving antennas. d is the distance between the transmitter and receiver. This relation is appropriate when the following conditions are satisfied,

$$b > \frac{\sqrt{\lambda d}}{\theta}, a > \sqrt{\lambda d}$$
 (2.2)

-2-





where θ is the grazing angle to the layer and a and b are horizontal dimensions as shown in Figure 1.

2.2 Calculation of the Reflection Coefficient

Let us assume that the layer is composed of many thin layers whose dielectric constants differ one from their neighbors by an increment $\Delta \epsilon$. Provided that $1 \gg \theta^2 \gg d\epsilon$, the reflection coefficient of the boundary between thin layers is given in the simpler form for both polarizations.

$$d\rho = \frac{d\epsilon}{4\theta^2}$$
(2.3)

We shall next assume the vertical distribution of electron density in the sporadic-E layer to be in the following form.

$$N = N_{max} \left\{ 1 - \left(\frac{z}{\Delta h} \right)^{2n} \right\}, n = 1, 2, 3 \quad (2.4)$$

where \triangle h is a half-thickness of the layer.

This distribution of electron density is shown in Figure 2 as a parameter of various values of n. If we put n = 1, this is a parabolic distribution. In rationalized MKS units, the dielectric constant is given in the following form for the ionosphere, neglecting the effect of collisions and of the earth's magnetic field,

$$\epsilon = 1 - \frac{Ne^2}{m\epsilon_o \omega^2}$$



ELECTRON DENSITY DISTRIBUTION IN THE SPORADIC E LAYER

FIGURE 2

so that the dielectric constant is in the form, if we put

$$f_{\rm N} = \frac{\frac{\rm N_{max} e^2}{4\pi m \epsilon_{\rm o}},$$

$$\epsilon = 1 - \frac{f_N^2}{f^2} \left\{ 1 - \left(\frac{z}{\Delta h}\right)^{2n} \right\}$$
(2.5)

The reflected field from any incremental layer is obtained by considering phase difference

$$dE_{r} = d\rho E_{i} e^{-j} \left(\frac{4\pi z}{\lambda}\right) \sin \theta dz \qquad (2.6)$$

Differentiating (2.5) with respect to z and inserting this into (2.6), we get

$$dE_{r} = \frac{n}{2} \frac{f_{N}^{2}}{f^{2}} \frac{z^{2n-1}}{(\Delta h)^{2n} \theta^{2}} E_{i} e^{-j} \left(\frac{4\pi z}{\lambda}\right) \sin \theta dz \qquad (2.7)$$

The complete reflected field $(f > f_N)$ is obtained by integrating the reflections from all increments within the layer

$$\mathbf{E}_{r} = n \frac{f_{N}^{2} \mathbf{E}_{i}}{f^{2} (\Delta h)^{2n} \theta^{2}} \int_{0}^{\Delta h} e^{-j} \left(\frac{4\pi z}{\lambda}\right) \sin \theta z^{2n-1} dz \qquad (2.8)$$

After the calculation of integral, we get

$$\mathbf{E}_{r} = n \frac{f_{N}^{2} \mathbf{E}_{i} \lambda^{2n}}{f^{2} (\Delta h)^{2n} \theta^{2} (4\pi \sin\theta)^{2n}} \left[(2n-1) \sum_{m=1}^{n} (-1)^{m+1} \frac{(2n-2)!}{(2n-2m)!} \right]$$

x
$$\left(\frac{4\pi \sin\theta \bigtriangleup h}{\lambda}\right)^{2n-2m} \cos\left(\frac{4\pi \sin\theta \bigtriangleup h}{\lambda}\right) + \sum_{m=1}^{n} (-1)^{m+1} \frac{(2n-1)!}{(2n-2m+1)}$$

x
$$\left(\frac{4\pi \sin\theta \Delta h}{\lambda}\right)^{2n-2m+1}$$
 sin $\left(\frac{4\pi \sin\theta \Delta h}{\lambda}\right) - (2n-1)$ (2.9)

The total reflection coefficient is defined as follows

$$\rho = \frac{E_r}{E_i}$$
(2.10)

In order to calculate the received power from the formula (2.1), it is convenient to use the reflection coefficient expressed as a power ratio.

If we put $L=4\pi\sin\theta\bigtriangleup h/\lambda$ in (2.9) and let k = n-m, ρ^2 is expressed in simpler form

$$\rho^{2} = \frac{f_{N}^{4} n^{2} [(2n-1)!]^{2}}{f^{4} \theta^{4} L^{4n}} \left[(-1)^{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{L^{2k}}{2k!} (-1)^{k} (\cos L + \frac{L \sin L}{2k+1}) + 1 \right]^{2}$$
(2.11)

Therefore the received power is obtained by combining formulae (2.1) and (2.11).

3. SCATTERING MODEL FOR SPORADIC E

3.1 Outline of this Model

Some types of sporadic E, particularly those which are frequently observed during evening hours in middle latitude, have many features of scattering phenomena. This scatter would be due to the irregularities of electron density occurring in the lower ionosphere. Recently Booker [8] has suggested that the phenomenon of sporadic E can, in some cases, be explained from the standpoint of scattering theory. The phenomenon of sporadic E, however, generally appears to have a denser concentration of electron density than the normal scattering phenomena. For this reason, it seems inappropriate to use the autocorrelation functions which are used to account for the normal scattering phenomena. Therefore, we shall at first consider an autocorrelation functions of the electron density available for the scattering model of sporadic E. We shall take the following correlation function

$$C_{n}(\rho) = C(\rho) \left[\frac{2^{1-n}}{\Gamma(n)}\right] \rho^{n} K_{n}(\rho), \rho = \frac{\ell}{r}$$
 (3.1)

where $K_n(\rho)$ is the modified Bessel function of the second kind of order n and Γ is the gamma function. C (o) is the time variance $< (\Delta n)^2 > of$ the refractive index n of the atmosphere and l is the scale of turbulence. This correlation function was derived by Muchmore and Gallet [9]. If we put n = 1/2 in the above formula, we can derive the exponential correlation function which was derived by Booker and Gordon [10]. Also the modified Bessel function of the first order is obtained in the case of n = 1, which is used by Norton and his collaborators [11] in order to account for tropospheric scattering. While considering n = 1/2 and n = 1, we shall pay more attention to the higher orders of n in this correlation function.

When n is an integer, $K_n(\rho)$ is defined by the equation

$$K_{n}(\rho) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\pi}{2} \{ I_{-n-\epsilon}(\rho) - I_{n+\epsilon}(\rho) \} \operatorname{cot} \pi\epsilon, \qquad (3.2)$$

where

$$I_{n}(\rho) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho^{n+2m}}{2^{n+2m} m! \Gamma(n+m+1)}$$

$$I_{-n}(\rho) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho^{-n+2m}}{2^{-n+2m} m! \Gamma(-n+m+1)}$$

and which gives

$$K_{n}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^{m} (n-m-1)!}{m! (\frac{\rho}{2})^{n-2m}} + (-1)^{n+1} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\frac{\rho}{2})^{n+2m}}{m! (n+m)!} \{ \log (\frac{\rho}{2}) -\frac{1}{2} \psi (m+1) - \frac{1}{2} \psi (n+m+1) \} (3.3)$$

* cf. Watson "Bessel Function".

1 -9-



AUTOCORRELATION FUNCTION OF THE MODIFIED BESSEL FUNCTION $\label{eq:relation} \left[2^{1-n} / \Gamma(n) \right] \rho^n \, \kappa_n(\rho)$

FIGURE 3

where ψ (m+1) = - γ + (1 + 1/2 + 1/3 + ... + 1/m)

$$\gamma = \lim_{m \to \infty} \{1 + 1/2 + 1/3 + \dots + 1/m - \log m\} = 0.5772157\dots$$
(Fuller's constant)

The calculated curves of this correlation function (3.1) are shown in Figure 3 by giving various values of n. In addition to these curves, the exponential and the Gaussian models are plotted in this figure. Models of the exponential, the Gaussian and the modified Bessel function of the first order have been used so far in order to explain both the ionospheric and tropospheric scattering cases. Although these correlation functions are proper for the phenomena of normal scattering, they may not be appropriate for the scattering model of sporadic E which appear to have denser concentrations of electrons. There is also another trouble that the frequency dependence of sporadic-E propagation may be difficult to explain from the correlation functions normally used in scattering theory. As will be seen from the figure, however, a correlation function of the modified Bessel function of higher order seems appropriate for the sporadic-E model.

3.2 Scale of the Sporadic-E Irregularities

It is necessary to note that the scale of turbulence which is represented in the correlation function (3.1) does not describe the scale of irregularities of the sporadic E, but expresses the usual scale of turbulence responsible for the normal scattering phenomena. So we must define the sporadic-E irregularities from the correlation

curves which are found in Figure 3. We shall consider a model wherein a sporadic-E cloud which has a large horizontal dimension contains a large number of small irregularities.

Although there exist some confusion concerning the use of the word "scale" to describe the size of irregularities of electron density in the ionosphere, we shall define the "scale" of irregularities to mean the distance in which the correlation is reduced to a specified value, such as 0.5, according to Booker's definition [12].

From the correlation curves shown in Figure 3, the scale of the sporadic-E irregularities may be put in the form

$$\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{m}\ell \tag{3.4}$$

where l is the scale of normal turbulence and m is an arbitrary multiplication factor. If we take the correlation curve of n = 5 as an example for the scattering model of sporadic E, the correlation function decreases to the 0.5 value at a separation of r = L = 3.5 l. Therefore the scale of the sporadic-E irregularities has dimensions of m times (3 ~ 4 times) the scale of the normal turbulence. Numerical estimation for the scale of the sporadic-E irregularities will be given later.

3.3 Scattering Cross-Section

The scattering cross-section is given, in general,

$$\sigma (q) = \frac{k^4 \sin^2 \chi}{16\pi^2 v} R_e \left\{ \frac{16\pi j v \ell}{q} \int_0^\infty C_n (\rho) e^{-jq\rho} dr \right\}$$

$$= \frac{k^{4} \sin^{2} \chi \ell^{3}}{\pi q} \int_{0}^{\infty} \rho C_{n}(\rho) \sin(q\rho) d\rho \qquad (3.5)$$

where

$$q = 2kl \sin \frac{\theta}{2} \stackrel{\sim}{=} kl \theta, \rho = \frac{r}{l}$$

θ : scattering angle

Inserting (3.1) into (3.5) and remembering C (o) is set equal to $<\left(\frac{\Delta}{\epsilon}\right)^2>/4$, the scattering cross-section is obtained in the form (see for example references [11], [18]).

$$\sigma_{n} = \frac{\langle \left(\frac{\Delta}{\epsilon}\right)^{2} \rangle \Gamma \left(n + \frac{3}{2}\right) \sin^{2}\chi \left\{1 + \left[\frac{\lambda}{4\pi \ell \sin \frac{\theta}{2}}\right]^{2}\right\}}{2^{2n+4} \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma (n) k^{2n-1} \ell^{2n} (\sin \frac{\theta}{2})^{2n+3}}$$
(3.6)

where χ is the angle between the direction of scattering and the direction of the incident electric field.

If we put $n = \frac{1}{2}$ in the above formula, $\sigma_{\frac{1}{2}}$ is obtained in the form (when the scale of turbulence is large compared with the wave length)

$$\sigma_{\underline{1}} = \frac{\langle \left(\frac{\Delta \epsilon}{\epsilon}\right)^2 \rangle \sin^2 \chi}{32\pi \ \ell \ \sin^4 \ \frac{\theta}{2}}$$
(3.7)

which is the Gordon's formula [13], for the tropospheric scattering case. This was also derived by Booker for the ionospheric scattering case [14].

We have the relation of $<\left(\frac{\Delta}{\epsilon}\right)^2 > = \left(\frac{\lambda}{\lambda_N}\right)^4 \left(\frac{\Delta}{N}\right)^2$ in the ionosphere, so, using the scale of sporadic-E irregularities, formula (3.6) is expressed in the form

$$\sigma_{n} = \frac{\left(\frac{\Delta N}{N}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\lambda}{\lambda_{N}}\right)^{4} \Gamma \left(n + \frac{3}{2}\right) \left(m\right)^{2n} \sin^{2}\chi \left[1 + \left\{\frac{m \lambda}{4\pi L \sin \frac{\theta}{2}}\right\}^{2}\right]}{2^{2n+4} \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma \left(n\right) \left(\frac{2\pi}{\lambda}\right)^{2n-1} L^{2n} (\sin \frac{\theta}{2})^{2n+3}}$$
(3.8)

The received power is obtained from the relation [14]

$$P_{r} = \frac{P_{t} b A}{R^{2} \sin \frac{\theta}{2}} \sigma_{n} (\theta.\lambda)$$
(3.9)

where b is the layer thickness and A is the effective area of the receiving antenna.

3.4 Generalized Scattering Cross-Section in the Anisotropic Case

Although the irregularities contributed to the normal scattering phenomenon in the lower ionosphere may be considered isotropic [8], but the irregularities of sporadic E may have an anisotropic structure, such as an ellipsoidal shape, because the scale of the sporadic-E irregularities are larger than the scale of the normal turbulence. The scattering theory in an anisotropic turbulence has been developed by several researchers [15, 16, 17]. One may develop the scattering crosssection (3.8) in the case of anisotropic irregularities. The generalized scattering cross-section is given in the form

$$\sigma_{n}^{=} \frac{\left(\frac{\Delta \cdot \mathbb{N}}{\mathbb{N}}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\lambda}{\lambda_{N}}\right)^{4} \Gamma \left(n + \frac{3}{2}\right) \left(m\right)^{2n} \sin^{2}\chi L_{1} L_{2} L_{3} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{2}}\right)}{2^{2n+4} \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(n) k^{2n-1} \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{2n+3} \left[\left(L_{1}^{2} \sin^{2}\gamma + L_{2}^{2} \cos^{2}\gamma\right) \sin^{2}\Phi + L_{3}^{2} \cos^{2}\Phi\right]^{n} + \frac{3}{2}}$$
(3.10)

where

$$q \stackrel{\sim}{=} \frac{2k\sin\frac{\theta}{2}}{m} [(L_1^2\sin^2\gamma + L_2^2\cos^2\gamma)\sin^2\Phi + L_3^2\cos^2\Phi]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

and L_1 , L_2 , L_3 are different scales of the sporadic-E irregularities in directions parallel, normal and vertical to the mean horizontal drift (assumed to lie in the direction of maximum elongation). γ is the angle between the mean drift and the great circle plane. The angle between the plane containing the scattering blob under consideration and the great circle plane is denoted by an angle Φ . This generalized scattering cross-section has been also obtained by Norton [18] for the tropospheric scattering case.

If the sporadic-E irregularities exist near the great circle plane,

we may put $\Phi \approx 0$ and in such a case the formula (3.10) becomes

$$\sigma_{n} = \frac{\left(\frac{\Delta N}{N}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\lambda}{\lambda_{N}}\right)^{4} \Gamma \left(n + \frac{3}{2}\right) (m)^{2n} L_{1} L_{2} L_{3} \left[1 + \left(\frac{m \lambda}{4\pi L_{3} \sin \frac{\theta}{2}}\right)^{2}\right]}{2^{2n+4} \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma (n) k^{2n-1} L_{3}^{2n+3} \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{2n+3}}$$
(3.11)

Moreover we can get the scattering cross-section available for the scattering model of sporadic E, by putting n = 5 into (3.11) and letting m = 3.5 as suggested earlier.

$$\sigma_{5} = 1.03 \times 10^{2} \frac{\left(\frac{\Delta N}{N}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{f_{N}}{f}\right)^{4} L_{1} L_{2} \left[1 + \left(\frac{3.5 \lambda}{4\pi L_{3} \sin \frac{\theta}{2}}\right)^{2}\right]}{\left(\frac{2\pi L_{3}}{\lambda}\right)^{2} L_{3}^{3} \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{13}} (3.12)$$

3.5 Relationship between Es Scattering and Normal Scattering in the Ionosphere

Although it has not yet been clarified as to what kind of mechanisms produce these sporadic-E irregularities, it will be possible to consider that these irregularities may have a close connection with turbulence produced by wind shear prevailing in this region. Gallet [19] proposed a mechanism of stratification of sporadic E by considering the mixing process in a turbulent region. Recently Layzer [20] has suggested that it may be necessary to consider very strong wind shears such as about 100 m/sec/km in order to maintain turbulent motion in this region and these wind shears may occur in a narrow layer of the order of 1 km in thickness. If we consider such a jet-like high shear layer, this layer may be expected to act as a partial reflector or scattering source due to fluctuations of electron density produced by turbulent mixing. Also, the recent experimental evidence has shown that wind shear as high as 140 m/sec/km exist in the 100 ~ 110 km region while, simultaneously, ionogram records show sporadic E near the level of maximum shear [21].

According to Gallet [19], the fluctuation of electron density is produced by the transport process

$$\left(\frac{\Delta N}{N}\right)^2 \cong \frac{1}{3} \ell_0^2 \left(\frac{\text{grad } N}{N}\right)^2$$

 l_{0} means the largest scale of turbulence in the layer. As the ambient daytime electron density in the E region is N $\cong 10^{5}$ cm⁻³ and the layer thickness of sporadic E may be considered to lie in ranges from a few kilometers down to a few hundred meters, the value of $\left(\frac{\Delta N}{N}\right)^{2}$ in the daytime is the order of unity to 10^{-1} . Since the sharp gradient of the electron density will decrease with disappearance of the sporadic-E clouds, the value of $\left(\frac{\Delta N}{N}\right)^{2}$ will also decrease to the order of 10^{-3} or 10^{-4} corresponding to normal scattering. As the sporadic-E clouds disappear or move to other places, the high concentration of electron density in this region decays to the normal state and therefore the



-18-

FIGURE 4

number of n (n = $5 \sim 6$) in the correlation function will tend to small numbers such as n = 1. In this case, as the irregularities are considered as isotropic, we can obtain the scattering cross-section from (3.6) by putting n = 1.

$$\sigma_{1} = 1.17 \times 10^{-2} \frac{\left(\frac{\Delta N}{N}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{f_{N}}{f}\right)^{4}}{\left(\frac{2\pi \ell}{\lambda}\right) \ell \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{5}}$$
(3.13)

This formula represents the normal scattering case. Although there is still some ambiguity concerning the scale of turbulence in the ionosphere, we have taken a value of l = 15 m as the average scale of turbulence corresponding to VHF forward scattering (f = 50 Mc/s), [22]. Booker [8] has also recently suggested the presence of irregularities of the electron density with scales in ranges from 20 to 60 meters in the lower ionosphere. Several calculated curves of the basic transmission loss for the Es scattering and the normal scattering are shown in Figure 6 by using the formulas (3.12) and (3.13).

4. DISTANCE DEPENDENCE OF SPORADIC-E PROPAGATION

An experimental determination of distance dependence is shown in Figure 4. This experiment was carried out, using the frequency of 49.68 Mc/s, in the summer of 1959 by the Radio Research Laboratories and K.D.D. (Japan's Overseas Radio and Cable System) in Japan in order to examine the distance dependence of the sporadic-E propagation with the cooperation of the NBS Central Radio Propagation Laboratory. The more detailed analysis of this experiment will be published in other papers [23, 24].

The transmitting point was Okuma, Okinawa, and the receiving points were Yonago, Akita and Hakodate in Japan. In addition to the summer (1959) data, we have added the observations at Hiraiso during the summer period in 1958. Distances between the transmitting point and each receiving point are as follows:

Rec. Station	Long.	Lat.	Dist- ance	Rec. Antenna	Antenna Gain	Antenna Height Above Ground
Yonago	1 3 3°22 'E	35°27 ° N	llOOkm	2-stack, 5-element Yagi	14.3db	18.4m
Hiraiso	140°37 °E	36°22'N	159 0 km	Rhombic	20.0db	15.Om
Akita	140°32 °E	39°44*N	182 0 km	2-stack 5-element Yagi	14.1db	30.Om
Hakodate	140°43 °E	45°24°N	2020km	5-element Yagi	9.ldb	6.0m*

	A	-	-	
111	ለ ಒ		- La *	
	нг	<u>ч</u>		
_			_	_

*Approximately 280m above the sea.

The 10%, 50% and 90% values of the statistical cumulative distribution of the Es signals are plotted in Figure 4 [23]. Statistical results of foEs measured at the ionosonde stations in Japan during the same period are as follows:

Ionosonde Station	foEs (10%)	foEs (50%)	foEs (90%)
Yamagawa	10.5 Mc/s	6.2 Mc/s	3.4 Mc/s
Kokubunji	10.8 Mc/s	6.4 Mc/s	4.0 Mc/s
Akita	12.8 Mc/s	7.2 Mc/s	4.3 Mc/s

TABLE II

We shall next examine this distance dependence from the theoretical point of view. The most appropriate theoretical curves for the experimental result are shown in Figure 5 and Figure 6 derived from the thin layer theory and the scattering theory described in sections 2 and 3 respectively. As measurements indicate that the layer thickness of sporadic E ranges from a few kilometers down to 50 meters, curves pertinent to these ranges are shown in Figure 5 and Figure 6, and seem to fit the observations reasonably well.

5. FREQUENCY DEPENDENCE OF SPORADIC-E PROPAGATION

It is well-known that the scattered power in normal ionospheric scatter propagation is inversely proportional to about the fifth or sixth power of frequency [8, 25, 26, 27]. Experiments show, however, that the frequency exponent increases in the case of sporadic E. It is reported by Davis, Smith and Ellyett [28] that the median value of the frequency exponent in sporadic-E propagation is 12 during summer time



FIGURE 5



-23-



EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS OF THE FREQUENCY DEPENDENCE OF SPORADIC E PROPAGATION





EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS OF THE FREQUENCY DEPENDENCES OF SPORADIC E PROPAGATION AND NORMAL SCATTER PROPAGATION

FIGURE 8



FIGURE 9

-26-



FIGURE 10

-27-

in 1955 and 17 during winter time. This experiment was carried out between Cedar Rapids and Sterling and signal intensities were recorded simultaneously at 27.775 Mc/s and 49.8 Mc/s. These experimental results are plotted with dotted curves in Figure 7. In a recent experiment which has been carried out by the Central Radio Propagation Laboratory in order to examine the frequency dependence of scatter propagation using five different frequencies, that is, approximately 30, 40, 50, 74 and 108 Mc/s. Blair [29] reported on the frequency dependence of sporadic-E propagation besides that of the normal scatter propagation. This experimental evidence is shown with a dashed curve in Figure 8. An additional dashed curve representing normal scatter propagation is also plotted in the same figure. The curve shows that the signal enhancement due to sporadic E diminishes rapidly with frequency when compared with normal scattering.

We shall try to check this frequency dependence from the theoretical point of view. In Figure 9 are plotted the theoretical curves derived from the thin layer theory with frequencies (30 Mc/s, 50 Mc/s, 75 Mc/s) as a parameter and several layer thicknesses (100 m, 300 m, 1000 m) with fixed value of the critical frequency of Es (foEs = 10 Mc/s) and an exponent of the electron distribution (n = 5). The corresponding calculation is given in Figure 10 by using the scattering model.

Concerning the frequency dependence, the thin layer model which is described in this paper does not seem to be a good fit. The

-28-

scattering model which has an auto-correlation function of the modified Bessel function of a high order seems to be preferable as will be seen from the formula (3.12) or Figure 7, 8 and 10. From the scattering theory for sporadic E [i.e. equations (3.8) and (3.9)], we get

$$P_r \leftarrow \frac{1}{f^{(2n+5)}}$$

If we take a high order value of n in the correlation function, that is, $n = 4 \sim n = 7$, we obtain

$$P_r \ll \frac{1}{f^{13}} \sim \frac{1}{f^{19}}.$$

Therefore we can explain the frequency dependence of sporadic E by considering an auto-correlation function which has a very slow decrease with ρ (= $\frac{r}{l}$). In Figures 7 and 8, are drawn families of curves with various values of n in the modified Bessel function of n order. From these figures, the auto-correlations of the modified Bessel function with n = 4 ~ n = 7 seem to be reasonable for the scattering model of sporadic E. It is also of interest to note that the curve of n = 1 fits the normal ionospheric scatter propagation measurements. Although Norton [30] has stated in his recent paper that this $\rho K_{l}(\rho)$ correlation function has definite advantages over the exponential model for describing the turbulence of refractivity in the troposphere and



CORRELATION BETWEEN $f_0 E_{\mbox{\scriptsize S}}$ and field strength of sporadic $\mbox{\scriptsize E}$

FIGURE II

-30-



FIGURE 12

-31-

stratosphere, also it seems to be quite good for the normal turbulence situation in the ionosphere.

6. CORRELATION BETWEEN foes AND FIELD STRENGTH

In this section, we shall briefly consider a correlation between foEs and the received Es field strength. Figure 11 shows some correlograms between these parameters. The normalized Es field strengths are the hourly median values observed at Yonago during the period January to December in 1958. As the ionosonde station at Yamagawa is situated almost exactly at the midpoint between Okuma (transmitting point) and Yonago (receiving point), it is appropriate to use values of foEs observed at Yamagawa to investigate a relationship between the field strength and foEs. Since the field strength used in this analysis is the hourly median value, the corresponding value of foEs is interpolated from the measured values at each hour. A more rigorous analysis has been made by Yamaoka [31] by using the instantaneous value of field strength to the value of foEs observed every 15 minutes. This is shown in Figure 12 and data during periods of July and August in 1959 are used. From these figures, it is interesting to note that the field strength increases abruptly in the interval from foEs = 8 Mc/s to foEs = 10 Mc/s. Although the cause of this increase is not yet clear, it may be related to the fact that this interval is near to the plasma frequency for normal reflection in this transmission circuit

-32-

(i.e. 49.68 Mc/sec $\theta = \sim 12$ Mc). This seems to suggest that there are two modes of sporadic-E propagation, that is, the high field strength corresponding to high values of foEs seems to be due to the reflection mechanism and the relatively low field strength is due to the scattering mechanism. Theoretical curves calculated from the thin layer and scattering models are compared with some measured field intensities for various values of foEs. From Figure 13 it can be seen that a fairly high field intensity of sporadic-E enhancement corresponding to a comparatively high plasma frequency may be explained by reflection from a thin ionized layer whereas a relatively low sporadic-E field intensity may be produced by the scattering mechanism.

7. CONCLUSIONS

From the above theoretical investigation for the sporadic-E model, some conclusions may be drawn.

i) High field strength of sporadic-E enhancements may be explained by reflection from a thin layer with electron density approaching the necessary plasma density (i.e. 2×10^6 e/cc for the Okuma-to-Yonago circuit).

ii) Relatively low field strength of sporadic E may be explained by the scattering model.

iii) Scattering model for sporadic E is expressed by using an auto-correlation function of the modified Bessel function of higher order and each blob of ionization may be considered to



THEORETICAL EXPLANATION FOR A RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN foes and es field intensity

FIGURE 13

have a horizontal scale of the order of 200 m and a vertical scale of 50 m.

iv) Concerning the frequency dependence of sporadic E, the thin layer theory developed in this paper does not seem to be appropriate, however, this frequency dependence can be explained by the scattering model.

v) If we assume a layer thickness of sporadic E of 300 m \sim 1000 m, we can explain the distance dependence of the median field strength from both the thin layer and the scattering theories.

8. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This research has been carried out as a part of the sporadic E project at the Boulder Laboratories. The author wishes to express his sincere thanks to Dr. E.K. Smith for his help and advice given throughout the course of this study. The author is much indebted to Dr. R.M. Gallet, Dr. K. Davies, Mr. V. Agy, Mr. J. Watts, Dr. H.H. Howe, Mr. J.W. Finney and Mr. J.F. DeGregorio at the Boulder Laboratories for their kind suggestions and discussions. His cordial thanks are also due to Messieurs A. Sakurazawa, K. Sawaji and M. Yamaoka at the Radio Research Laboratories in Japan for their effort in arranging necessary data.

-35-

9. REFERENCES

- E.K. Smith, Worldwide occurrence of sporadic E, NBS Circular 582 (Mar. 1957).
- [2]. D.R. Hartree, The propagation of electromagnetic waves in a stratified medium, Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 25, 97 (1929).
- [3]. H.G. Booker, The critical frequency method of measuring upper atmospheric ionization, (Result quoted by Appleton, Naismith and Ingram, Proc. Phys. Soc., 51, 81, 1938).
- [4]. O.E.H. Rydbeck, The reflection of electromagnetic waves from a parabolic friction-free ionized layer, J. Appl. Phys., <u>13</u>, 577 (1942).
- [5]. O.E.H. Rydbeck, On the propagation of radio waves, Trans. Chalmers, Univ. Tech., <u>34</u>, (1946).
- [6]. K. Rawer, Elektrishe Wellen in einem geshichteten medium, Ann.
 d. Physik, <u>35</u>, 385 (1939).
- [7]. H.T. Friis, A.B. Crawford and D.C. Hagg, A reflection theory for propagation beyond the horizon, Bell Sys. Tech. Jour. <u>36</u>, 627 (1957).
- [8]. H.G. Booker, Radio scattering in the lower ionosphere, J. Geophys. Research, <u>64</u>, 2164 (1959).
- [9]. R.M. Gallet, (Private communication).
- [10]. H.G. Booker and W.E. Gordon, A theory of radio scattering in the troposphere, Proc. I.R.E., 38, 401 (1950).
- [11]. K.A. Norton, Point-to-point radio-relaying via the scatter mode of tropospheric propagation, I.R.E. Trans. CS-4, 39 (1956).
- [12]. H.G. Booker, The use of radio stars to study irregular refraction of radio waves in the ionosphere, Proc. I.R.E., <u>46</u>, 298 (1958).
- [13]. W.E. Gordon, Radio scattering in the troposphere, Proc. I.R.E., <u>43</u>, 23 (1955).

- [14]. D.K. Bailey, et al, A new kind of radio propagation at very high frequencies observable over long distances, Phys. Rev., <u>86</u>, 41 (1952).
- [15]. H.G. Booker, A theory of scattering by nonisotropic irregularities with application to radar reflection from the aurora, J. Atmospheric and Terrest. Phys. 8, 204 (1956).
- [16]. H. Staras, Forward scattering of radio waves by anisotropic turbulence, Proc. I.R.E., 43, 1374 (1955).
- [17]. J. Renau (To be published in J. Research, NBS Part D).
- [18]. K.A. Norton, Carrier frequency dependence of the basic transmission loss in tropospheric forward scatter propagation, NBS Technical Note 53 (May, 1960). (To be published in July, 1960 issue of J.G.R.).
- [19]. R.M. Gallet, Aerodynamical mechanisms producing electronic density fluctuations in turbulent ionized layers, Proc. I.R.E., <u>43</u>, 1240 (1955).
- [20]. D. Layzer, Ionospheric turbulence and the origin of stratification, Lecture at NBS (1960). (To be published in Es Monograph, Pergamon Press, 1961).
- [21]. L.R.O. Storey, (Private communication to Dr. E.K. Smith, 1960).
- [22]. K. Tao, Radio scattering expressed in terms of the spectrum of turbulent fluctuation in the ionosphere, J. of the Radio Research Laboratories, 5, 20 (1958).
- [23]. K. Tao, K. Sawaji, A. Sakurazawa and M. Yamaoka, Experiments of long distance ionospheric propagation on VHF, J. of the Radio Research Laboratories, 7, 177 (1960).
- [24]. K. Miya, T. Sasaki and M. Ishikawa, Observation of F-layer and sporadic-E scatter at VHF in the Far East (to be published in January, 1961 issue of NBS J. Research, Part D).
- [25]. D.K. Bailey, R. Bateman and R.C. Kirby, Radio transmission at VHF by scattering and other processes in the lower ionosphere, Proc. I.R.E., 43, 1181 (1955).

- [26]. W.J. Bray, J.A. Saxton, R.W. White and G.W. Luscombe, VHF propagation by ionospheric scattering and its application to long distance communication, Proc. I.E.E., 103, 236 (1956).
- [27]. A.D. Wheelon, Radio frequency and scattering angle dependence of ionospheric scatter propagation at VHF, J. Geophys. Research, 62, 93 (1957).
- [28]. R.M. Davis, E.K. Smith and C.D. Ellyett, Sporadic E at VHF in the USA, Proc. I.R.E., <u>47</u>, 762-769 (1959).
- [29]. J.C. Blair, Frequency dependence of VHF ionospheric scattering, NBS Technical Note, 9 (Apr. 1959).
- [30]. K.A. Norton, Recent experimental evidence favoring the ρK₁ (ρ) correlation function for describing the turbulence of refractivity in the troposphere and stratosphere, J. Atmospheric and Terrest. Phys. <u>15</u>, 206 (1959).
- [31]. M. Yamaoka, Relationship between foEs and field intensity depending on sporadic-E propagation, (to be published in July, 1960 issue of the Quarterly Review of the Radio Research Laboratories, in Japanese).

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE Frederick H. Mueller, Secretary

NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS A. V. Astin, Director



THE NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS

The scope of activities of the National Bureau of Standards at its major laboratories in Washington, D.C., and Boulder, Colo., is suggested in the following listing of the divisions and sections engaged in technical work. In general, each section carries out specialized research, development, and engineering in the field indicated by its title. A brief description of the activities, and of the resultant publications, appears on the inside of the front cover.

WASHINGTON, D.C.

ELECTRICITY. Resistance and Reactance. Electrochemistry. Electrical Instruments. Magnetic Measurements. Dielectrics.

METROLOGY. Photometry and Colorimetry. Refractometry. Photographic Research. Length. Engineering Metrology. Mass and Scale. Volumetry and Densimetry.

HEAT. Temperature Physics. Heat Measurements. Cryogenic Physics. Rheology. Molecular Kinetics. Free Radicals Research. Equation of State. Statistical Physics. Molecular Spectroscopy.

RADIATION PHYSICS. X-Ray. Radioactivity. Radiation Theory. High Energy Radiation. Radiological Equipment. Nucleonic Instrumentation. Neutron Physics.

CHEMISTRY. Surface Chemistry. Organic Chemistry. Analytical Chemistry. Inorganic Chemistry. Electrodeposition. Molecular Structure and Properties of Gases. Physical Chemistry. Thermochemistry. Spectrochemistry. Pure Substances.

MECHANICS. Sound. Pressure and Vacuum. Fluid Mechanics. Engineering Mechanics. Combustion Controls. ORGANIC AND FIBROUS MATERIALS. Rubber. Textiles. Paper. Leather. Testing and Specifications. Polymer Structure. Plastics. Dental Research.

METALLURGY. Thermal Metallurgy. Chemical Metallurgy. Mechanical Metallurgy. Corrosion. Metal Physics. MINERAL PRODUCTS. Engineering Ceramics. Glass. Refractories. Enameled Metals. Constitution and Microstructure.

BUILDING RESEARCH. Structural Engineering. Fire Research. Mechanical Systems. Organic Building Materials. Codes and Safety Standards. Heat Transfer. Inorganic Building Materials.

APPLIED MATHEMATICS. Numerical Analysis. Computation. Statistical Engineering. Mathematical Physics.

DATA PROCESSING SYSTEMS. Components and Techniques. Digital Circuitry. Digital Systems. Analog Systems. Applications Engineering.

ATOMIC PHYSICS. Spectroscopy. Radiometry. Mass Spectrometry. Solid State Physics. Electron Physics. Atomic Physics.

INSTRUMENTATION. Engineering Electronics. Electron Devices. Electronic Instrumentation. Mechanical Instruments. Basic Instrumentation.

Office of Weights and Measures.

BOULDER, COLO.

CRYOGENIC ENGINEERING. Cryogenic Equipment. Cryogenic Processes. Properties of Materials. Gas Liquefaction.

IONOSPHERE RESEARCH AND PROPAGATION. Low Frequency and Very Low Frequency Research. Ionosphere Research. Prediction Services. Sun-Earth Relationships. Field Engineering. Radio Warning Services. RADIO PROPAGATION ENGINEERING. Data Reduction Instrumentation. Radio Noise. Tropospheric Measurements. Tropospheric Analysis. Propagation-Terrain Effects. Radio-Meteorology. Lower Atmosphere Physics. RADIO STANDARDS. High frequency Electrical Standards. Radio Broadcast Service. Radio and Microwave Materials. Atomic Frequency and Time Standards. Electronic Calibration Center. Millimeter-Wave Research. Microwave Circuit Standards.

RADIO SYSTEMS. High Frequency and Very High Frequency Research. Modulation Research. Antenna Rescarch. Navigation Systems. Space Telecommunications.

UPPER ATMOSPHERE AND SPACE PHYSICS. Upper Atmosphere and Plasma Physics. Ionosphere and Exosphere Scatter. Airglow and Aurora. Ionospheric Radio Astronomy.

